UNITED STATES OF AMERICA NUCLEAR REGULATORY COMMISSION

MEETING WITH ADVISORY COMMITTEE ON REACTOR SAFEGUARDS (ACRS)

PUBLIC MEETING

Nuclear Regulatory Commission Commissioners Conference Room One White Flint North 11555 Rockville Pike Rockville, Maryland

Friday, May 24, 1996

The Commission met in open session, pursuant to notice, at 9:35 a.m., the Honorable SHIRLEY A. JACKSON, Chairman of the Commission, presiding.

COMMISSIONERS PRESENT:

SHIRLEY A. JACKSON, Chairman of the Commission KENNETH C. ROGERS, Member of the Commission

2 STAFF AND PRESENTERS SEATED AT THE COMMISSION TABLE:

J. HOYLE T. KRESS G. APOSTOLAKIS J. CARROLL I. CATTON M. FONTANA W. LINDBLAD D. MILLER D. POWERS R. SEALE W. SHACK C. WYLIE

PROCEEDINGS

3

[9:30 a.m.] CHAIRMAN JACKSON: Good morning. It is always a pleasure to meet and hear from you, Dr. Kress, and other members of your Committee, the Advisory Committee on Reactor Safeguards.

MR. KRESS: Thank you. CHAIRMAN JACKSON: We have quite a few topics of interest to discuss this morning. However, before we begin because I understand this is the last Commission meeting for ACRS member James Carroll, I would like to pause for a few minutes and to have Commissioner Rogers and me present you with two tokens of the Commission's appreciation for your eight years of service to the Committee and to the Commission.

So I would like first to present you in a plaque form with a copy of a letter of appreciation from the Commission and we have a photographer here.

MR. CARROLL: I had guessed. [Laughter.] MR. KRESS: That is why he wore a tie. [Laughter.]

CHAIRMAN JACKSON: That's not all. It says, "Presented to James C. Carroll upon completion of eight years of exemplary service to the Advisory Committee on 4

Reactor Safeguards and to the Nuclear Regulatory Commission. [Applause.]

MR. CARROLL: Thank you.

MR. CATTON: Jay, are you sure you are leaving

now?

[Laughter.]

CHAIRMAN JACKSON: Over the years, the ACRS has provided valuable advice to the Commission on the safety aspects of the proposed and existing nuclear facilities and we always feel fortunate to be able to draw upon your expertise. Now I understand that today's briefing will cover the following topics, uses of IPEs in the regulatory process, fire protection issues, proposed final revisions to 10 CFR Parts 50 and 100, digital I&C, the ACRS review of standard plant designs and conformance of operating plans with NRC safety goals.

If that is your understanding, Dr. Kress, Commissioner Rogers and I are happy to welcome you to the meeting and look forward to hearing what you have to say. Before you begin, I would like to say that Commissioner Dicus is unable to join us this morning and she sends along her apologies. Dr. Kress.

MR. KRESS: Thank you and I don't intend to waste any time by making speeches. We will jump right into the agenda item and the first item is the use of IPEs in the 5

regulatory process and that is George Apostolakis' area. MR. APOSTOLAKIS: Good morning. We wrote a letter

on the IPEs dated March 8 and basically what we said there was that the program has been very successful in meeting the intent of the generic letter. Both the utility staff and the NRC staff have developed an appreciation of PRA methods now, all the units have done an IPE.

In addition, we were asked to provide comments on the possible use of the IPEs in the regulatory process which was not part of the original generic letter and the main problem there is that it is not clear to what extent the subjective judgments and use of methods and models have influenced the results.

In other words, if I look at an estimate of core damage frequency say from one particular IPE, I will have to go into the IPE and look at the details of the models to really be able to say that yes, this seems to be a realistic estimate again in the sense that it is up to the standards of the state of the art or it is driven by certain assumptions that perhaps are not justified.

What makes matters more complicated in my opinion is that the review process was done under very severe constraints and I don't know why that was but it certainly did not help in identifying again to what degree assumptions and judgments have influenced the results. 6

CHAIRMAN JACKSON: Could you be more explicit about what you mean there?

MR. APOSTOLAKIS: For example, there are certain areas in PRAs where there are a number of models out there, for example, the rate estimation, common cause failures and so on and as I understand the rules of the game if a particular licensee selected the method or a model that had been used by other PRAs or that was in a report from a major organization then all the reviewer had to do was to make sure that that model was applied as it was intended, the reviewer was never to question the model itself was applicable. That in my opinion is a severe limitation.

When I have participated in reviews of major efforts both by the industry and national laboratories and the reviews there were very different. Every model, every assumption was scrutinized and the analysts had to defend those. In this case, they did not have to do this.

Now with respect to their use, the Committee felt that there was a lot of useful information in the IPEs and that as issues now come up between the staff and the licensees and if the licensee chooses to use the IPE, then the staff would have to make sure that the methods and models that are being used for that particular issue are up to the current standards.

So we are not recommending a massive effort to

7

upgrade the IPEs, however if they are to be used for individual issues, then they have to be updated.

CHAIRMAN JACKSON: So let me paraphrase you. Are you saying that in order for a regulatory decision to be based on them, then for that particular decision that the model then should be examined that undergirds, the potential use should be examined from that perspective at least?

MR. APOSTOLAKIS: Yes.

CHAIRMAN JACKSON: All right.

MR. APOSTOLAKIS: Now with regard to risk-informed and performance-oriented regulation, we had two subcommittee meetings with the staff and we also had presentations to the full committee.

CHAIRMAN JACKSON: Let me back you up. We have always said risk-informed performance based so you are migrating in language so before you can tell us the results of your discussion, you have to tell us about your migration in language.

MR. APOSTOLAKIS: Why it is performance-oriented and not performance-based?

CHAIRMAN JACKSON: Why you are using that terminology.

MR. APOSTOLAKIS: I think the staff used it actually. I am not sure. There is no deep thinking behind it.

8

CHAIRMAN JACKSON: Fine. [Laughter.]

MR. APOSTOLAKIS: Well, as we said in the letter there are several issues that are intellectual and practical issues that are very difficult and they have to be resolved. The staff, we felt, made a good starting effort with a framework document and the pilot projects they have selected. As usual, we had some comments.

The first one which I think is really a very important one is that we have to have a big picture as we embark on this new effort and by big picture I mean that we have the Commission's safety goals and then we have targets such as the frequency of large releases, core damage frequency, and now with the maintenance rule the licensees are allowed to determine their own performance criteria regarding trains or systems.

Somehow we have to know or we have to understand how all these things come together. If I have subsidiary targets, why this particular value and not something else, how does everything come together? If we think in terms of a level-3 PRA, go top down, how do all these things come together using logic to be consistent with the top level goals that the Commission has promulgated? So we asked the staff to do this or we actually suggested that they do it. Then second, before again we start specifying

e again we start specifying

intermediate or subsidiary goals, it seems to me that we have to think about the philosophy of the whole approach. For example, shall we try to set those goals at the highest level possible and what does that mean or shall we say, "Well, it is easy to set the goal regarding the availability of this major component so we will do that." Well, maybe we ought to think about putting it at the higher level if possible and if we cannot, why not.

There are a few other principles that we have listed in our letter. I don't need to go through all of them. Now one major issue that arose was the issue of performance, what does performance mean.

In fact, that was one of our criticisms of the framework document, that we did not use the word "performance" at all. Now as we state in the letter there seem to be two extremes here and I am sure eventually we will settle on something in between.

On one extreme, we look at only hardware and we say, "Well, do we have any statistical records to support a particular estimate of availability or unavailability and that is the measure of performance." We don't have to use any models because we don't trust the models and so on.

On the other extreme, we have a group of people who believe that, for example, the core damage frequency could be a measure of performance if you also state what has 10

been left out and so on. So that would include more things than just the performance of hardware and a lot of people have problems with that, of course, because that gets into issues such as organizational factors and so on.

I don't think any one of us claims that we do know the answer. This is a very difficult concept but before we talk about performance-based regulation, we have to understand what we mean by performance or maybe define it, that in this context this is what it is going to mean.

Then with respect to the pilot projects, each individual project seems to be fine and it will be very useful but again what is missing is the big picture. Was there a design, what we call in statistics an experimental design, done beforehand to tell us, "Look, on the way to

RIPOR, we will have these issues, we have these questions to answer and if we do such and such a project, we will get the answers."

Now we don't know that. We don't know that such a thinking actually took place and these pilot projects may overlap in certain things and they may leave other questions unanswered. So we would like to see again in the big scheme of things how these pilot projects will help us answer some of the questions that we expect will come up.

CHAIRMAN JACKSON: From your discussions with the staff on the pilot projects, is it your judgment that it is

. 11 possible to revisit these questions that are of concern to you in a way that what the staff intends to do relative to them can be quote/unquote, "backfit" for lack of a better term, to be able to address some of what you consider to be these difficult issues?

MR. APOSTOLAKIS: Well, the staff has told us that it is not easy to go back and establish new projects because it takes time.

 $\label{eq:CHAIRMAN JACKSON: No. I am talking about within the context of the projects as they are.$

MR. APOSTOLAKIS: Oh, as they are?

CHAIRMAN JACKSON: Right.

MR. APOSTOLAKIS: What kinds of questions will be answered by these projects, you mean or change them a little bit?

CHAIRMAN JACKSON: What you thought may have been missing from the beginning, to what extent can one go back and try to address some of these issues? That is really the question I am asking you and if you made recommendations to the staff along these lines.

MR. APOSTOLAKIS: No, we have not made specific recommendations because I think it is not obvious what the issues will be so somebody has to sit down and think about them.

One obvious thing is that there is very little on

the level-2 issues, for instance. All the pilot projects really deal with level-1 issues. The other question is how do you define a pilot project that deals with level-2 issues because the issue of performance there is something that is not obvious. I mean, what is performance when it comes to level-2 issues?

External events, I don't think there is any project that really deals with that. But these are the sort of obvious ones. There may be other, more esoteric questions that will not be answered and maybe ten months from now we will find that boy, this would have been nice to have something on this. So that is what we meant by that. Basically, I think this covers the highlights of

what we have done.

CHAIRMAN JACKSON: Thank you. Dr. Catton, did you have a comment you wanted to make?

MR. CATTON: No.

CHAIRMAN JACKSON: Commissioner Rogers.

 $\label{eq:commutation} \begin{array}{c} \text{COMMISSIONER ROGERS: Do you think we ought to} \\ \text{have questions on each of the individual presentations} \end{array}$

rather than have to go back? CHAIRMAN JACKSON: Yes, I think so. Otherwise, it will hard to keep up.

COMMISSIONER ROGERS: I thought it was very interesting your comment about using IPEs for regulatory 13

purposes, about having to review them for appropriateness of the models that are involved if we want to make a decision of some sort but it brings me back to the standard review plan.

You did indicate that you thought that the standard review plan, a PRA standard review plan now being developed by the staff, can serve as a template for judging the quality and acceptability of individual plant PRAs for the proposed application.

Now how does that relate to your comment about the specific models? In other words, would the standard review plan as you understand it now being proposed by the staff involve a review of the appropriateness of a model?

MR. APOSTOLAKIS: Yes. I would like to see that, yes.

COMMISSIONER ROGERS: Has that been communicated explicitly to the staff in this regard? I think as they develop the standard review plan, it would be nice to see these points of view come together. MR. APOSTOLAKIS: We have told the staff that we would like to see a list of acceptable and even unacceptable assumptions and models as part of this plan and they were a little bit concerned about the unacceptable assumptions but they didn't seem to have any objection to listing acceptable methods and models.

14

Now the reason why unacceptables is important is because after the review of all these IPEs, I think the staff now really know where the major pitfalls are, where people really can make judgments and assumptions that are really unacceptable.

Also, after 20 or so years of doing PRAs there is some standardization especially how to develop event trees and what assumptions to make there and the fault trees. So I think it would be useful and some of their statistical methods really were atrocious.

COMMISSIONER ROGERS: I am sure they could give some examples of unacceptable approaches but, of course, the list of unacceptables is infinite.

MR. KRESS: It is non-ending.

COMMISSIONER ROGERS: So it can be by example but it can be a definitive list obviously.

MR. APOSTOLAKIS: But they can draw on their experience from reviewing the IPEs.

COMMISSIONER ROGERS: Right.

MR. APOSTOLAKIS: That is really the point.

COMMISSIONER ROGERS: I just think that if you can convey those thoughts as the standard review plans are being developed, I think that would be very important and very useful.

The point I wonder if you could elaborate a little

. Is bit on relates to page three of your Part B.1 and you list the RIPOR points and the fourth bullet there, "The relationship between RIPOR and defense-in-depth should be explained. The role of defense-in-depth in the determination of performance criteria to accommodate uncertainty and incompleteness in risk assessments should be established." I wonder if you could say a little bit more about that because the defense-in-depth features are part of what is included in the PRA. They are not an add-on. They are part of it.

MR. APOSTOLAKIS: Right.

COMMISSIONER ROGERS: So what do you have in mind there? I am just trying to grasp the concept a little bit better.

MR. APOSTOLAKIS: It refers to the determination of performance criteria of subsidiary targets. I don't think the Committee has a view on this because we have not really gone into details but I can give you my view because different people interpret this in a different way.

reflect that. It reflects it to some extent, of course, because of the equipment and so on.

Now in my view though there is another implementation of the concept that it is very important. Precisely because the PRA results are so uncertain, in fact, let me put it in a different way, if we had high confidence in level-3 estimates all we would need would be the Commission's goals, nothing else.

Then somebody comes and says, "Well, the individual risk if ten to the minus eight, compare it with the Commission's number, it is fine." But we know that is not the case. We know the uncertainties are there. So then we say that well, we would really like to have a goal on the large early release and then we realize even that is not enough and another goal on core damage frequency.

Some European countries, for instance, feel that that is not the way to do it, let's put the goals on the safety function frequency availabilities or we can go all the way down to systems and put the goals on the reliability of individual systems.

To me, that is an implementation of defense-indepth in the probabilistic domain because of the large uncertainties in the result you say, "Well, I had better make sure that these critical intermediate events have low Now on top of that, of course, some of them are so important in themselves like core damage that you would like to have a goal there anyway. That was the thinking behind this and that is why we say to accommodate uncertainty which is what I just explained and incompleteness. So you look at both.

CHAIRMAN JACKSON: The incompleteness has to do with not having goals set at these subsidiary levels?

MR. APOSTOLAKIS: In risk assessment. So we know that the core damage frequency was not calculated including everything that is relevant so now we have to do something about what is left out.

CHAIRMAN JACKSON: All right. Commissioner Rogers.

COMMISSIONER ROGERS: That is helpful. I have to think a little bit more about it. I think there are interesting aspects of this but that was helpful.

MR. KRESS: The Committee is still batting this issue around. There are some thoughts we have discussed but haven't arrived at firm positions on. There are things like how does the apportioning between core damage frequency and early large release, that is a defense-in-depth concept and how does one arrive at the proper value for that.

Another concept we have batted around is there ought to be certain functions or systems like the safety 18

systems we now have, systems important to safety that could be declared as systems important to defense-in-depth and be excluded from the risk-based considerations when you go into a PRA and so forth. Just because you may find out one system by the PRA, if you exclude it or design it differently it may not have that much effect on risk but by intuition and by experience and so forth we know it is an important feature and we could exclude that from being treated in a risk-based space.

For example, just the containment or the shutdown systems that we have so we have to have those, we have to have redundancy, we have to have diversity, the various defense-in-depth concepts associated with them and it doesn't matter what the risk calculation tells you about them, we will have to require those anyway. That is a thought we have batted around but we haven't arrived at a firm position on these things yet.

CHAIRMAN JACKSON: So that means that it is a ripe topic for the next time we talk with you.

MR. KRESS: Yes.

 $\label{eq:CHAIRMAN JACKSON: All right. Why don't you move on and talk about fire issues.$

MR. KRESS: Ivan, that's yours.

MR. CATTON: In response to your request we commented on the PRA fire model developed by BNL for

evaluating fire risk during a self-induced station blackout and the BNL scoping analysis of degraded fire barriers. We were not happy with either.

Further, it came as a surprise to some of us, not all of us but some of us, that a blackout would be selfinduced. The first study focused on the effectiveness of the procedures to mitigate a given fire and did not address the probabilistic treatment of fires themselves.

Fire was taken as a given with a predetermined frequency. The scope of the study did not include a number of factors like human error that could impact conclusions. Here, I will let my colleagues expand on these issues if necessary.

My own particular concern is the lack of treatment of the fire itself. Certain conclusions are assumed about it and then it is put into a PRA framework. As a result, we don't believe one can draw substantive conclusions from the study. The uncertainty swamps the results.

The degraded fire barrier study suffered from similar oversimplification. The scoping analysis was oversimplistic in that fire propagation, detection and suppression were not considered. This ignores the fundamental competition between time to damage and time to detection and suppression.

It was simply assumed that the fire barrier had a 20

given probability of failure. The time to damage would have entailed estimating the impact of a fire on a protected cable tray or other target. One could estimate the probability of a fire of a given magnitude and the probability of an important protected target being in the vicinity. The calculation tells you whether or not it might be lost. One could then relate a given amount of protection to risk of loss of the target and this was not done.

It is my view that risk-informed fire regulation will require more than what was done by BNL. A number of issues ranging from approximate appropriate fire initiation data base that includes ignition and fuel separately, the modeling and thermal physical data will have to be obtained or addressed somehow. At present, I do not see these issues being addressed by NRC or the industry.

CHAIRMAN JACKSON: Commissioner Rogers.

COMMISSIONER ROGERS: Are you saying that you think that more studies have to be done and more data has to be accumulated?

MR. CATTON: I think a lot of the data is out there. For example, when you look at -- and I need to be careful moving into the PRA arena, that is not my ballgame, but my observation is that the fire frequency data is around but what has not been done is it has not been split into

probability of an ignition source and probability of fuel

being in the vicinity because they are really two separate issues.

As a result a lot of the fire frequency data is inappropriate and I think that really needs to be addressed. What is really lacking, too, is given that you can treat that probabilistically which is what you probably have to do, I think you need to do some kind of computation. You can't just put numbers into a PRA and expect the bottom line to be of substance.

CHAIRMAN JACKSON: Are you saying that you need to do some kind of computation?

MR. CATTON: There is phenomena occurring, there is phenomena that we understand that is occurring and I think that needs to be incorporated into the PRA in a meaningful way. This is not happening.

CHAIRMAN JACKSON: How does the BNL fire risk modeling compare with what you see in the IPEEEs?

MR. CATTON: That is a question I have to defer to my colleagues. I haven't looked much at the IPEEE but I think both Bill Lindblad and George could address that.

MR. LINDBLAD: The IPEEE is operating on a review schedule that follow IPE for internal events and we have just finished the internal event review. We really haven't seen much of the IPEEE results or review from the staff so I

really can't say.

MR. APOSTOLAKIS: The study that was presented by BNL was not a new fire PRA model. They used some of the existing models to address a different issue, right, the self-induced SBO.

MR. CATTON: Yes, that's right.

MR. APOSTOLAKIS: So we can't really comment on something as being a new methodology for doing fire risk assessment. So they used simplifications of existing models. Coming back to what Professor Catton just said, I do agree that there is a need for some additional modeling. MR. CATTON: But not fully.

[Laughter.]

MR. APOSTOLAKIS: But there are some parts of that issue, I believe, of the whole assessment of risks from fires that will never be resolved. The issue of large fires, for example, the issue of having the fire in the right place. In my opinion, these are the weak spots of the analysis. Unfortunately, they are necessary. In other words, you can't assume that a fire anywhere will do damage. It has to be in the right place. Now you can't expect to have statistical information on that. So in my opinion, that is something that will always be with us.

But I do agree with Ivan's recommendations because even the data, I mean we keep hearing about the data doing . 23

this and that and I don't think we ever had really an opportunity to look at the data, what is available and pass judgment.

CHAIRMAN JACKSON: How much and what we have here is fairly generally written, how much specificity have you passed back to the staff relative to what needs to be done to move forward?

MR. CATTON: We have had these kinds of

discussions with the staff but the only thing that gets passed is the letter. It is formal. Informal, we have had a lot of discussions.

CHAIRMAN JACKSON: I see. Commissioner Rogers. COMMISSIONER ROGERS: You mentioned the work done by the insurance industry. Has that been directly related

to nuclear power plants or are these more generic studies? MR. CATTON: It has not been directly related to the nuclear industry but I don't think that the phenomena

changes because of one place or another. Your boundary conditions and other things change and what you calculate changes depending on what the source, the transport process and the target are but the methods and the physics don't change.

COMMISSIONER ROGERS: No but I am really talking about the accumulation of data that is appropriate.

MR. CATTON: Oh, there is quite a bit of data that 24

is appropriate to the nuclear industry that is available like cable trays. Cable trays are not just in nuclear power stations so there is a lot of this kind of data and I think there should be some effort to gather this together and somehow ferret out what is important and begin to bring it to bear.

COMMISSIONER ROGERS: It seems to me that what you are saying is that we really haven't really taken a comprehensive look at this problem. It is sort of like your comments that Professor Apostolakis made in his remarks, that we need to really get an overview of the situation and as we approach it, it looks like there are bits and pieces that have been done but not a comprehensive look in some way.

MR. CATTON: I am going to speak a little bit out of the area that I probably ought to but the fire PRA itself, the structure, to me looks all right. Where the thing starts to come unstuck is when you say, "Well, gee, I have a barrel of something or other in this room, what is it going to do?" There the analysis process gets very weak and I think more needs to be done to bring this thing together. What are you going to have in a given room? That is always going to be probabilistic.

But you ought to be able to assume something and you certainly can go in and say, "Gee, the maximum I could 25

have is, it could burn instantaneously or it could burn at some rate" and you could begin to put these things together.

As long as we just do this sort of overview and stuck numbers into a matrix, I think you are going to have a result that is not believable, at least not believable by people like myself. You have to put some substance into it somehow.

COMMISSIONER ROGERS: Do you think that the result of that is always going to be an overly conservative approach or not?

MR. CATTON: It could be either way. Let me give you some examples. I have heard some interesting things about cable trays and how they burn. They burn through walls where they are supposed to not burn. They burn down cable trays. All sorts of things happen.

The results that are coming out of the HDR containment in Germany say that we really don't know how these things burn. We don't know how to relate a given heat source to the evolution of gases that will burn. These are just simple physics but you need to look at them and until you do, whatever the PRA practitioner is going to do is going to be some sort of an estimate or guess.

Now is he going to be high or low? You can get examples both ways. I think you don't know and that is sort 26

of what led us to statements about uncertainty which we sort of put down whenever we can.

CHAIRMAN JACKSON: So you are basically saying that the underlying analysis, physics, engineering that would really need to undergird and make this a robust or end up with a robust technique is just not there.

MR. CATTON: It is weak. CHAIRMAN JACKSON: Weak. MR. CATTON: It is very weak. CHAIRMAN JACKSON: All right.

COMMISSIONER ROGERS: I don't dispute that. The question is, what is the possibility of really finally coming to closure on something like this and whether an analytical approach is the best way to deal with it or perish the thought, a purely regulatory approach that says, "You shall not have in this area certain things" and you don't know whether they are going to be there or not but if you make a rule that says they can't be there, then at least you have some little confidence that it is unlikely that they will be there. It doesn't totally exempt that from happening as we found to our dismay sometimes.

But in other words, is this an area where it is not purely engineering to solve the problem in that you can engineer a system that you feel is going to have a bottom line PRA number that you believe in and feel comfortable 27

27

with or will you have to mix this with some requirements that just take care of those aspects of it that are going to be somewhat uncertain.

MR. CATTON: But the first thing you probably ought to do is find what those things are whose uncertainty you can't reduce and then you have to deal with them but to even think that you might be able to do it completely analytical, I think, that is foolish. You just can't do that.

You can in a simple room with something nice but as soon as it gets complicated, you can't. That doesn't mean that you can't do engineering kinds of calculations for this complex system. We do that all the time. What I don't see is an incorporation of this into the PRA structure and I think that is what is needed.

CHAIRMAN JACKSON: That is also probably true at the level of PRAs that are not fire.

MR. CATTON: I wouldn't just focus on fire. It is just that the fire PRA is kind of interesting in that over the years we have been exposed to people who don't believe the results of the fire PRA because they say that the numbers are too pessimistic and there are other people who believe the other way and yet when you look at the PRA, the way it sits in front of you, you can't put your finger on what the reason is except some don't believe and some do 28

believe.

I think if it is going to be risk-based, you have to develop a risk-informed or whichever word, you have to develop faith in this tool that you are using. Now how do you do that? I think you have to remove the numbers that are stuffed into it when you can.

COMMISSIONER ROGERS: Are there any data similar to epidemiological data in other areas that tell us what kind of fires actually do occur in nuclear power plants? We have several hundred now around the world operating for several decades. Is there any comprehensive data base on fires even little ones that one might be able to look at in terms of what seems to have actually happened?

MR. CATTON: I think that is a necessary step is to do that. There have been some pretty exciting fires. I mean the one in India that you probably know about and there was one in Spain and they have been here, there and everywhere. Somehow these ought to be brought together.

CHAIRMAN JACKSON: Not to mention Browns Ferry. MR. CATTON: Yes.

MR. CARROLL: Sandia does maintain such a data base and so does EPRI. The Sandia data base to me is as Ivan described it overly pessimistic. A wastebasket fire turns into a core damage event very quickly in the approach that they use.

29

MR. APOSTOLAKIS: I think if one goes only by what has happened the fire issue essentially goes away. MR. CATTON: Overstatement.

MR. APOSTOLAKIS: The PRA guy has a problem there because you start out by identifying what we call critical locations, where control cables come together or power cables. So if you go into a room that is under strict administrative controls, the regulatory part that you mentioned earlier, and you identify a location like that.

You do your simple calculations and you realize that under normal conditions, there will never be enough fuel there to cause any damage. So what do you do now? You screen out the location or you look at the evidence again where administrative controls have been violated occasionally.

So you say, "Well, gee, there will not be under normal conditions five gallons of oil or the equivalent. However, I cannot exclude the possibility." So now you have to put in an additional probability there that this amount of fuel will be there and that is when the debate begins and that is why a lot of people don't believe the results. They say that you will never get that fuel there to do all this damage that you are calculating later.

In my opinion, that is an unresolved issue. The evidence cannot resolve it because you do have over the 30

history of nuclear power, you do have incidents where people found unauthorized amounts of fuel in areas where they were not supposed to be. In fact in one case some inspector from the insurance industry was telling me that he found dynamite that was left there overnight because it was raining outside.

I don't think that any statistical evidence will help us resolve that issue and these are the various factors that I mentioned earlier in addition you have to say that it is exactly what it is supposed to be to do the damage and so on.

Now the second part, I think the physical models, I thin it is interesting to note that the basic tool, computer tool, that is being used right now is the Masters Thesis of a student of 16 years ago and what needs to be done is to revisit that because the fire safety community has done a lot of work outside the nuclear arena developing models and doing experiments and so on and I think what needs to be done is for someone to put together a new model that uses the latest and the best available models.

I don't think we need to start from scratch. I don't think we need a major research program that starts with experiments and let's understand how this works unless we have deemed that information critical to what we are doing and it is not available anywhere else. I think that

is very important.

I have dealt with several fire safety researchers in other fields and it is true that the field has advanced tremendously in the last ten or 15 years. So I would not criticize the existing model as being inadequate and all that because it was never intended to be used by the whole industry. All of a sudden during the Zion and Indian Point PRAs we found out that fire was important and people said, "Well, what do we do? Well, there is this model, let's use it" and it acquired a life by itself but it was never really a serious major effort to develop a tool to be used by an industry.

That historical background, I think, is important and a lot of people have criticized it but I don't think there have been any advances.

MR. CATTON: Just to pursue this a little further, the evaluation of a number of models that took place in Germany, the result was that the biggest problem was the thermal physical properties of the cable itself. How much gas was released when you heated it? Simple things like that and if you can't get the inputs, you can't get the answer.

So some of the basic data is missing and if you look back, you will see that people just didn't measure that. They took a torch to it and it was more qualitative 32

than quantitative.

These are not hard things to do but they just haven't been done. So part of the data base is incomplete and again, I would agree with George. It shouldn't be a major research effort but there should be some sort of focus on where are the weak links in putting this thing together. CHAIRMAN JACKSON: All right. Dr. Kress.

MR. KRESS: The next item is the proposed final

revisions to 10 CFR Parts 50 and 100 and Bill Lindblad will address that.

MR. LINDBLAD: Thank you, Tom. As you know to a large degree the revisions had to do with reordering where certain provisions would be found and that in itself didn't involve safety issues.

The safety issues that arose had to do with geotechnical considerations and in that regard the revisions really reflected the current state of the art and what had been previously accepted by the staff and the committee with regard to doing probabilistic studies for sites particularly in the eastern United States where it was difficult to identify tectonic structures that would be of interest.

The Committee found that that was certainly representative of what we believe to be proper safety. The

revisions did incorporate perhaps a bias by referring to if one were to select a new site, hopefully it was a site with

low probabilistic risk rather than the field that the current plants are in and how that will work out in the future time will tell whether ones will seek those out preferentially or not.

In regard to the other safety aspects of the revision, an important one was incorporating the new source term that had previously been reviewed by the committee and found to be more realistic, more mechanistic and was considered to be a substantial advance in safety evaluation for reactors. A particular issue that came up about using the source term and the dose criteria associated with it is what window of time would be used to evaluate the maximum dose. For some reason that none of us have been able to hammer out a two-hour window has been used in the past but which two-hour window.

There were as you know alternate approaches proposed to the Committee and we listened to both arguments and our letter states that while there was not a great deal difference in the risk profile, we did feel that the main proposed provision of any two hours or the worst two hours, however you choose to do it, was preferable.

CHAIRMAN JACKSON: A question I had for you on that issue and as you say picking say two hours as opposed to three, these things have historical precedent but nonetheless, it seems that there is this in-house difference

34

of opinion in terms of the first two hours after fuel failure versus worst two hours and one could argue that the one relates more to design and the other relates perhaps to issues related to emergency response because one could say on the one hand if one focused on the worst two hours, that that has clear design implications for a facility.

On the other hand, by focusing on the first two hours that does address the issue of when people are most likely to be around and it has implications in terms of emergency response, people getting to the site as well as evacuation issues in terms of how a dose would build up not to mention that the worst two hours if you are looking at it from the point of view of dose to an individual has to assume that the person comes in, say if it is at the fourth to sixth hour, at the fourth hour and leaves at the sixth, so the issue almost then and maybe this muddles the issue but I am interested in your thoughts, how could one from a public policy perspective not say look at an integrated dose over a larger window that would incorporate the time when one would think that there is dose, but if there is dose and no one is there and there may be less dose but people are there, more likely to be there, why should not one do a calculation that is an integrated calculation over a larger window that takes that into account?

MR. LINDBLAD: I think that is done, of course, 35

for the population dose.

CHAIRMAN JACKSON: That's right.

MR. LINDBLAD: That is done. But as you point out in the early response to a casualty there is a great reliance on what is already in place called the design provisions of the plant and as one goes farther down the time scale, there is a presumption that the planned emergency response will be put into operation by the licensee as well as the governmental bodies and this agency and that has been thought out recognizing the specifics of the plant and measured up against the society's desire to protect its public. So I believe it is done in that regard but Dr. Kress is our expert in this area and you should hear from him.

MR. KRESS: If I may, thank you, this is one of the places where we get a collision between design basis accidents and reality. Design basis accidents are historically there so that if you go by them and use them to design your plant and features in it, then you will end up with a plant that will be over all safe for the whole spectrum of accidents. One should not confuse the source terms used for design basis accident with real source terms although they are intimately related and one should have some relationship to the other.

When it comes to emergency response type

activities, one ought not to deal with design basis concepts. One ought to use the PRA, real accident

spectrums. One ought to formulate his emergency response plans based on what real accidents might occur

So the source term there ought to be realistic source terms that involve the full time spectrum, the full spectrum of accidents, the types of things one might get and that ought to be the way one deals with emergency response. Going back to design basis, there is a weak link

between the actual risk one ends up with and the form of the design basis accident one chooses. There is a link but it has never been established if you follow this type of design basis considerations, you will end up with a plant that has this level of risk. That nexus has never been made.

We have empirical evidence that it has worked because we have plants that we have now done PRAs on and IPEs, et cetera, and we say, "Well, they are very safe. They meet the safety goals and it is because they are designed according to these design basis concepts." So there is empirical evidence that it has worked.

But one cannot look at these design basis things and say that it is because we did this form of the source term or it is because we had this, we had that, it is the whole bunch of it taken together. So one ought to be careful about trying to use design basis things for real 37

risk-informed decisions. That was my problem with it. MR. CARROLL: I would have to add that using the design basis prescriptions, we find sometimes have actually

produced a less safe plant. MR. KRESS: Absolutely.

MR. CARROLL: That is also something to be concerned about.

MR. KRESS: Some of the design basis concepts allowed us to end up with if I may say so an ice condenser containment which personally I don't like and it is because it is allowed within the design basis concept.

MR. CARROLL: Or diesels that were forcing to start too fast or isolation valves.

MR. KRESS: Or valves that were forced to close too fast and those things actually increase the risk.

MR. CATTON: In the fire business, this is called magic numbers and golden rules.

MR. CARROLL: Since we are on fire protection I did confirm something, I believe. The graduate student that invented this thing was one of George's.

[Laughter.]

[Laughter.]

CHAIRMAN JACKSON: He was speaking so

knowledgeably I had that feeling. MR. CARROLL: I just wanted to make sure you knew.

38

CHAIRMAN JACKSON: But net-net, you support the idea that the radiological doses, the evaluation of radiological doses, should be for the worst two-hour time period.

MR. KRESS: Yes, because it ends up with a more robust design and in design basis space, I think you are looking for that attribute.

MR. LINDBLAD: I would like to comment that while we approved that we did recommend that the careful definition of the total effective dose equivalent limits should be consistent with the way the organ dose weighting factors are found in Part 20 of the regulations that we think that there is an appropriate consistency that should be applied but otherwise, we accepted the basic proposal.

CHAIRMAN JACKSON: Does that mean then that you support the 25 rem?

MR. LINDBLAD: I don't know what number it would work out but whatever the number is, it ought to be consistently used with Part 20.

CHAIRMAN JACKSON: Commissioner Rogers.

COMMISSIONER ROGERS: Isn't the TEDE a welldefined entity now? Whatever it is, it is defined. Are you suggesting that it should be adjusted in some way?

MR. LINDBLAD: There was some statement I believe from industry that suggested that the development of the

39

specific number that was used in the discussion used an organ dose weighting factor different from that of Part 20. We didn't really determine that ourselves but on just the statement that it was, we suggested that it be consistent. We have not yet a staff's response to our letter. Maybe they will explain the inconsistency at that time but we haven't followed up on it beyond that.

CHAIRMAN JACKSON: All right.

COMMISSIONER ROGERS: Fine. You recommended issuing the rule on the seismic aspects in your letter of April 22 but does that mean not the siting and source term aspects? Does that mean only the seismic aspects?

MR. LINDBLAD: I believe in developing our letter we partitioned the discussion into first seismic and geologic and gave that a do pass and then we approached the radiological and it may be that our letter was inclusive but we did intend, I am sure, we intended that the material, that the final rule be processed.

COMMISSIONER ROGERS: Including all aspects?

MR. LINDBLAD: Yes with the recommendation on the TEDE limit which we are not sure of but we would hope would get refined.

COMMISSIONER ROGERS: I see. You are asking for a review of that before it is issued.

MR. LINDBLAD: We recommended one, yes.

COMMISSIONER ROGERS: I see. All right. Thank you very much.

CHAIRMAN JACKSON: Dr. Kress.

MR. KRESS: Dr. Miller, the next item is yours, digital I&C.

MR. MILLER: Thank you, Tom. The item here is the status of review of regulatory guidance on digital instrumentation and control systems and the primary activity right now, of course, is the review of the standard review plan and I want to remind the Commission that that plan is actually one that codifies currently regulatory guidance into one single document and really kind of updates it and there is guidance on digital I&C upgrades in the form of the generic letter 95-02 which was in April of 1995 in which that endorsed the EPRI guideline which provides guidance through the 50.59 process for I&C systems in current operating plants.

Now we have completed review with the staff over the last couple of months or the last month, in March and in our most recent meeting, four sections of the standard review plan and also two branch technical positions and a number of regulatory guides.

I want to bring up one point. There is a high probability, I think someone said 99 percent, that a branch technical position will be actually dropped in lieu of a 41

safety evaluation report which will endorse another EPRI guideline and that is in the area of commercial off the shelf software and that guideline is being developed on the model of the previous guidelines on I&C and one we recently approved and that is in the area of EMI RFI. I think that gives you a look to the future and I think is another example of collaboration and cooperation amongst industry, EPRI and, of course, the NRC staff.

The regulatory guides which are listed in your briefing book have been reviewed and essentially completed by the Committee and these guides have the objective of actually supplementing or providing additional guidance on other regulatory guides which have already been endorsed.

That is regulatory guide 1.153 which is safety systems in nuclear power plants and then 1.152 which is safety system computers in nuclear power plants. So those are meant to provide additional guidance.

The plans as we look to the future are that we will complete our review of the review plan in meetings in August and in September or October and in parallel with that, we will expect the Committee report from the National Academy Study, its Phase Two report, to be also reviewed and we will attempt to incorporate all that together in the October meeting of 1996.

So I think we are pretty much on schedule as we 42

expect and I believe that it is being done as rapidly as possible. As I kind of closing comment from my point of view, not everything is done yet.

The Committee during the course of the review, individual members have raised issues which I think need to be debated amongst the members of the Committee and we have not brought closure on any of these issues.

I want to make that point and it will be subject to debate over the next several months and those issues include a concern about what I would say is the level of detail provided in the regulatory guides, the lack of guidance on a graded approach, the approach which tends to emphasize in some members' minds process over product and I say that because other members don't all have to agree to that and finally the very generic concern expressed by a couple of members and that is the generalized use of industrial standards as a basis for regulatory guides.

CHAIRMAN JACKSON: Generalized use of what? MR. MILLER: Of industrial standards as a basis

for regulatory guides. Of course, that has been the policy of the NRC since, it goes back to IEEE 279 which is actually incorporated into regulation but from that point on, the majority of regulatory guides in I&C and other areas have used industrial standards as their basis.

CHAIRMAN JACKSON: Why is that a generalized 43

concern?

MR. MILLER: I guess at this point I was going to invite Committee members to make comments on that because that is not my concern. I would rather others speak to that.

MR. LINDBLAD: With me, it is not an issue of the use of the standard, of an industrial standard, I think that that would be appropriate. I do believe though that the regulatory agency has to identify a rationale for why the standard that is used in the industry is necessary and sufficient to meet the regulatory need.

I guess I have observed that were the standard to be submitted by a licensee to the staff for approval of use, it would result in the staff preparing a safety evaluation report which deals specifically with the issue of necessary and sufficient.

When the Agency on its own initiative decides to endorse an industrial standard, there doesn't appear to be a document equivalent to the safety evaluation report that is as explicit in why the standard meets the requirement.

Now it seems to me that many of the standards we endorse, we are endorsing because they represent best practice and to me, we ought to acknowledge that we are endorsing it because it meets best practice.

On the other hand, there may be some standards 44

that are intended to resolve a specific safety issue and one that comes to mind is the ANS standard on decay heat released from fission, that is an issue and we have endorsed it and frequently used a 20 percent factor to be sure it is right.

MR. CATTON: To be sure it is conservative.

MR. LINDBLAD: To be sure it is conservative, yes. There may be other standards that are intended to solve a specific safety issue and one should either identify whether we are endorsing it as representing good current practice or we are representing a specific safety issue that needs to be resolved.

CHAIRMAN JACKSON: Let me ask you this. Are you saying that your historical experience has been that such safety evaluations are not done and therefore, there aren't SERs that show that or that there haven't been documentation of what safety analyses and how they relate to regulatory requirements?

MR. LINDBLAD: Basically the Committee worked some documents and testimony and it has only been recently and actually one of the other members has raised the issue and it has appealed to me when he raised it and Dana will speak to it shortly but I believe that it would be appropriate to see a document that looks like a SER.

MR. POWERS: I think Dr. Lindblad has explored the 45

issue well with you. I would just add into it that we need to be careful when we get this industry standard that is labelled a consensus standard to make sure that we have indeed explored the range of technical opinion and not just a narrow portion of the community that can participate in the development of the standard and that we have, in fact, taken the best practice that really does exist out there and are confident that we have adopted a standard that is going to serve us well and accomplish what we think it will accomplish. That, he thinks, as he said I think that can be accomplished by an explicit safety evaluation report on what you want the standard to do and why you think it will do that and why that is enough.

CHAIRMAN JACKSON: From the point of view of safety?

MR. POWERS: Yes, that's right, from the point of view of safety.

CHAIRMAN JACKSON: Dr. Kress, you had a comment? MR. KRESS: No. I think this has covered our views guite well on this subject.

CHAIRMAN JACKSON: All right. Do you want to go on?

MR. KRESS: Yes. I guess the next item is the status of our reviews of the standard plan designs and Mr. Carroll is going to lead the discussion on this item.

MR. CARROLL: I am looking at page 34 and that is a summary that was written last week about the design certification rulemaking which has become inoperative since the time it was written.

I guess we have learned that General Electric has submitted ten design changes that the staff currently has under review. I believe ACRS has a statutory obligation to hear about these and write a letter on them on the basis that these design changes are advertised to us as being safety significant and we originally signed off on the final design approval.

We also understand Combustion is at least considering submitting some additional design changes. So I guess we are back in the mode of waiting to see the staff's safety evaluation or supplemental safety evaluation or whatever they call it on the GE ones at least before we will be able to comment on the design certification rules.

CHAIRMAN JACKSON: I would hope that working with the staff as much as possible if you could provide your views before the now rescheduled Commission meeting which has been rescheduled for late August.

MR. CARROLL: They have rescheduled again. CHAIRMAN JACKSON: Well, it is at the moment rescheduled for the last week of August.

MR. CARROLL: Right, August 23.

. 47 CHAIRMAN JACKSON: So basically you are not at this point prepared to give any more specific comments. MR. CARROLL: That's right. CHAIRMAN JACKSON: Commissioner Rogers.

COMMISSIONER ROGERS: No, I don't have anything on

CHAIRMAN JACKSON: Dr. Kress.

this

MR. KRESS: There are other parts to this section and I guess Mr. Lindblad is going to cover the next part of it.

MR. LINDBLAD: I am the subcommittee chairman for the Westinghouse standard designs. We have had one previous review meeting on it some months ago and we anticipate that there will be another one next month on the specific issue of level-1 PRA. Most of the activity that the Committee as a whole has been doing is in regard to the thermal hydraulic response of a passive plant and its computer codes and here I am going to defer to Dr. Catton who leads that subcommittee to discuss that. Dr. Catton.

MR. CATTON: Thank you. I will try to just summarize where we are at for both the AP600 and the SBWR. Westinghouse has an experimental program that encompasses a number of facilities with various degrees of design sophistication. Some are well scaled and some are not. All have defects of one type or another.

48

The data resulting from testing at these various facilities is supposed to support the thermal hydraulic computer code V&V. Establishing whether or not the data base is sufficient is not a trivial task.

At our recent Committee meeting, we concluded that what we would need to be sure the data base was complete enough before proceeding to the codes themselves, that this needed to be done and this will entail an full review demonstrating how all the pieces fit together.

You have one facility, something is missing, where do you pick it up in order to establish some sort of measure of sufficiency of the data. Westinghouse has committed to do this. I don't know if they have formally committed but at least at our subcommittee they did and it is my understanding that the staff expects them to do this also.

Now the computer codes, first is COBRA/TRAC and that has been around for a long time and the version that Westinghouse is using is a modification of one that was actually developed by NRC and Westinghouse plans to use this for the large break LOCA ECCS evaluation. We reviewed the code for application to existing plants and we don't see any surprises so we probably won't have anything more to say about it.

For the small break LOCA, Westinghouse plans to use a different code. It is called NOTRUMP and it will be 49

used as an evaluation model meeting Appendix K requirements which is not best estimate; it is fairly prescriptive. We know very little about this code particularly today's version and its application to AP600. They supposedly have documentation in the mail. We'll see.

Long term cooling analysis will be based again on COBRA/TRAC calculations. We have some concerns about this because it takes so long to complete a calculation that Westinghouse will probably not do a thorough job and I forget the estimate but it was on the order of a couple of months of continuous computation to get one circumstance run to completion. It is just the wrong computational tool for the job and I can go into more detail on this if you wish.

CHAIRMAN JACKSON: Are there better computational tools that exist?

MR. CATTON: Well, I think just doing a quasisteady analysis would be the thing to do and to exercise a computer code that is inappropriate for the job to me is just foolishness but it is their money and their computer, I guess. The problem is these big codes were developed for the large break LOCA which is a very fast transient. You do special things for the numerical algorithms. You can get away with a lot of things too because the forcing is so strong, 2000 psi when you start.

When you go to low pressures, long term, slow, 50

subtle balances between buoyancy forces and other things, you just have to do things differently or should and they haven't done this.

Now the containment. Here the data base is weak and the modeling is inadequate. The concerns evolve about the existence of thermal and concentration stratification within the containment itself.

From what we have seen, I don't believe it has been adequately measured and further that the test facility has been properly scaled and the computational procedure that they are using is based on a code called GOTHIC and it is a lumped parameter code and this type of code will not do the job when it comes to calculating stratification. It just won't.

The thing is, is that it is a huge building and by the time you do it properly, there is a price you have to pay, small nodalization for the accuracy and they are just not doing that.

To summarize our plans in this regard, we will meet with Westinghouse when they have put together a story supporting the view that the data base is complete or sufficient and then this will be followed by a review of the codes themselves and our progress is going to be based by the staff. We decided that we wanted to have in hand a draft SER before we meet with Westinghouse again.

Now the SBWR is a little different. It has been some time since we met with GE. We commented on their code and we had a rather bleak view. They, of course, explained to us that that is because what they were putting up on the screen was not what was in the code and the code was really all right but in any event, we were not very happy.

We met several months ago to discuss the test results obtained from the PANDA facility and the scaling of the PANDA facility and we were impressed both with the scaling effort and with the data that came out of it.

At the outset we were concerned that this condenser type heat removal system would get blocked by nitrogen and we had a lot of discussions with GE on how they ought to run their test.

Well, they out-did us a little. They started it with, I believe, 100 percent nitrogen and it worked. It performed its intended function. My reaction at the time was I don't really need to hear any more.

Of course, depending on what GE does we will do it and write a letter on our views. We have not had a response to our concerns about the code and we have not commented on the final draft of their test and analysis program.

By the way, this test and analysis program is sort of an overview of how they plan to put it all together. This is what we are waiting for also from Westinghouse. . 52

MR. CARROLL: How they planned to put it all

together.

MR. CATTON: T-A-P-D, test and analysis program -

MR. CARROLL: No, I am just making a point. CHAIRMAN JACKSON: E-D, making the plant past

tense.

MR. CARROLL: SBWR is past tense.

MR. CATTON: Well, I don't know. GE has requested that we comment on it and I don't know what we are going to do. It is going to depend on the staff because we probably won't do anything until we are requested to do so. If SBWR is going to disappear, we probably ought not bother with any more review.

CHAIRMAN JACKSON: Commissioner Rogers. COMMISSIONER ROGERS: I don't have a question but

I do think your comment on when you had the real data from the PANDA facility how your concerns then were totally allayed. I think it is very important to keep in mind that real data is terribly important and you can do all the computer runs you want to in the world but if you haven't got data that validates those, there is lots and lots of questions.

MR. CATTON: That's right.

COMMISSIONER ROGERS: Just the importance of 53

having experimental data.

MR. CATTON: You need to have data and you need to demonstrate that the data is appropriate for what you are going to do and this always involves scaling up a tremendous ratio and at this point GE has done a reasonable job of doing that. Their scaling analysis was quite complete. We had a lot of complaints about details but overall, it looked good and the results looked good. We were quite pleased.

CHAIRMAN JACKSON: All right. Dr. Kress.

MR. KRESS: The last item on the agenda is mine and it has to do with possible extension of the IPE/IPEEs to see if one can determine whether the set of plants, how well they conform with respect to the safety goals.

Of course, you realize that the IPE/IPEEEs were never intended for this so what I say is not a complaint against those. They are really just not up to it because most of these PRAs for the IPEs and IPEEEs did not include fire, seismic in a risk sense, they used the FIVE analysis and a margins analysis and they didn't include shutdown risk. Some did not even do a level-2, most did and hardly any did a level-3 and the safety goals are, of course, a level-3 concept in risk.

In order to make this comparison, you do have to basically have a full level-3 PRA analysis that is acceptable and there are some questions of acceptability for $\frac{54}{54}$

the standpoint, too.

So the question was can you possible bound some of these things and still make use of the IPEs to give one an idea and that was the intent of the study we heard about during yesterday's meeting of Brookhaven National Laboratory as part of the insights program to see if that could be done.

As far as it went, their study did a very nice job. It was just incomplete in the sense that they didn't even pretend to figure out how to treat fires or seismic or shutdown risk.

They did do some nice things on incorporating those plants that didn't go to a full level-2 in terms of trying to estimate what the early high releases would be and they did do some nice things in trying to incorporate site specific meteorology and population.

So it was a nice study as far as it went but we thought it was still incomplete enough that the use of it to infer whether or not the plants meet the safety goals is still going to be problematic.

We had a study done by one of our fellows that discussed how one might incorporate fire, seismic and even shutdown risk in a bounding way and it was a nice study. There is a reference to it in your handout.

The question is should the BNL study, for example, 55

be extended to incorporate these things and our overall feeling was that it probably is not worth the effort, that the results are still going to be highly uncertain and problematic and will have all the deficiencies and shortcomings that we have discussed with the IPEs in terms of modeling and so forth and that we probably already know enough from what is done already with the IPEs and with the insights program and with NUREG-1150 to infer with some confidence that most of the plants do meet the safety goals.

Now there may be some outliers that still don't but on an average which is what the safety goals were intended to talk about, they probably do meet them and we won't really know this for certain and we won't really know which plants are the ones that don't and which ones do until we have available full level-3 PRAs for each plant that is acceptable and includes all these missing parts.

We think the Commission probably ought to think about a first step in that direction in possibly extending the NUREG-1150 study. This was really a monumental study that was a very nice effort that did state-of-the-art work and we think some effort to include the seismic results and to include shutdown risk would be probably justified just to get a handle on those things for the same five surrogate plants.

56

So we think that would be a thing to do but as far as having full level-3 PRAs for each plant which is what you basically need, that is a huge effort and we think that wouldn't be needed in the long run for any kind of riskbased regulatory system.

That is a basic tool that one will need but it is not something that we think should be mandated. We think that is up to the industry to come up with that, to upgrade their IPEs to that level and that it probably will take a lot of time and will come about when the licensees come in for use of these IPEs for some sort of regulatory relief. At that time, they will have to come in with an acceptable IPE and over time these things will probably get upgraded to an acceptable and updated level.

CHAIRMAN JACKSON: An acceptable and updated level.

MR. KRESS: Yes. They use them in their maintenance program and their outage planning programs so eventually it would come about and I don't think it should be mandated and I don't see any urgent reason for us to rush out and try to see or get to the level where you can really make the judgment as to which plants and which do not meet the safety goals and whether they do on the average, I think we can be pretty confident that they probably on the average do and eventually we will have that answer if we wait long 57

enough

CHAIRMAN JACKSON: Nonetheless, you have made the argument that there should be perhaps a restatement of Commission policy to allow the use of the safety goals on a plant specific basis?

MR. KRESS: Yes.

 $\label{eq:CHAIRMAN JACKSON: So that would be consistent with that.$

MR. CARROLL: To allow the use of some form of safety goals, not necessarily the ones we have right now.

CHAIRMAN JACKSON: Do you intend to continue discussion about what form of safety goal?

MR. KRESS: Yes, we plan to continue that.

CHAIRMAN JACKSON: So how does the staff currently address plant specific backfits in its regulatory analysis if there isn't a current application of the safety goals on a plant specific basis?

MR. KRESS: Plant specific backfits, I am not sure of the answer to that frankly. I know they have to do a regulatory analysis when it is a generic backfit and that addresses plant types generally not getting very specific in terms of plant specific. Does anybody want to add to that?

MR. SEALE: That may be the engine that drives the upgrading of the existing IPEs by individual utilities. CHAIRMAN JACKSON: I can't you too well.

58

MR. SEALE: I'm sorry. That may be the engine that drives the upgrading of the existing IPEs by individual utilities. If they want it, it is in their interest to do it.

 $\label{eq:CHAIRMAN JACKSON: Were you going to make a comment? \\$

MR. CARROLL: Was your question how does this work in terms of the backfit rule on licensing issues on individual plants because it doesn't. The backfit rule doesn't apply to individual plants.

CHAIRMAN JACKSON: No, I understand that. I am

talking about when there are plant specific changes. MR. CARROLL: But for a grouping of plants. CHAIRMAN JACKSON: Right.

MR. CARROLL: All right.

CHAIRMAN JACKSON: More along the line of what you were talking about, Dr. Seale. Please go ahead.

MR. APOSTOLAKIS: I think that is really part of the problem, that the goals are really sometimes used in a so-called generic sense which is ill-defined itself and sometimes really are used in plant specific applications. Until somebody says you are using a plant specific application and then say, "No, no, I don't want to do that."

I think part of the reason why we recommended that 59

the Commission restate the goals on a plant specific basis is to make it clear that we need a new statement that says this is the way these things ought to be used because right now it is not clear to people what exactly you mean by using them in a generic way for a population of plants. So there is some confusion, I think, out there.

CHAIRMAN JACKSON: Is there confusion in your mind?

MR. APOSTOLAKIS: Yes. When I heard the answer to the question, what does it mean to do this, I didn't like them and you can't blame the people because to use something in a generic sense is a little difficult. We don't know how to do that. What if three plants are way above the goal? What do you do? The average population is below but what do you do about these three?

MR. KRESS: Nothing because they meet the definition of adequate protection already. That is the basic answer but one might give it a little more regulatory attention to the one that is high on the list.

MR. LINDBLAD: I think there is a question whether regulatory policy requires all plants to be better than average.

COMMISSIONER ROGERS: Oh, I don't know. I think that sounds like a wonderful idea. [Laughter.]

60

MR. LINDBLAD: Garrison Keillor has talked about Lake Woebegone in that regard.

CHAIRMAN JACKSON: Dr. Kress, any further comments that you or members of your Committee would like to make?

MR. KRESS: Does anyone wish to add anything? [No response.]

CHAIRMAN JACKSON: If not, I just want to thank

you for a very informative briefing and a very useful one. I have some follow-on comments if Commissioner Rogers has no questions.

COMMISSIONER ROGERS: Just a little bit further on this level-3 and level-2 and so on and so forth question. Would there be any value in having rather complete level-2 PRAs and then to couple those together with some kind of a generic level-3, in other words, a generic population or a location or a site that would then somewhat settle this question about whether on the average because the average then is a site, deals with a sort of generic site? Would there be any value to doing that to give us any confidence in the regulatory aspects of what has taken place?

MR. KRESS: I personally think not and the reason I think not is because in order to arrive at the characteristics of this generic thing, you have to do the plant specific, you have to work backwards from that to get to generic and as long as you are going to work backwards, 61

you might as well not bother with it.

If you had a generic description, it would stand and you could do some things to bound various sites in a generic type of characteristics and if that bounding result told you that on the average you were below the safety goals, you have learned something and it would be worthwhile. You could do that without working backwards and as is likely to turn out, this bounding analysis told you that you didn't meet the safety goals.

Then you haven't learned very much because you know it is a bounding analysis and you just don't know how much it bounds, what the margins are. I personally don't think that it would be worthwhile to do it.

MR. CARROLL: Isn't it fair to say that if you have a good level-2, doing the level-3 isn't that big a job?

MR. KRESS: That's true. I think that is probably

a true statement.

MR. CARROLL: For a plant specific level-3.

MR. KRESS: Yes.

MR. CATTON: At one time and I am not sure who did it, I believe it was Sandia did a study and they put an average plant on a number of different sites and that led to all sorts of excitement. So it is not a good idea.

COMMISSIONER ROGERS: I think this question of restating the Commission's safety goal has to be given some, 62

for use on a plant specific basis, I think that requires a lot of thought on exactly how to do that.

MR. KRESS: Yes.

COMMISSIONER ROGERS: I think it has to be more detailed than the Commission just reverses its previous policy that said that safety goals are not to be used on a plant specific basis. I think it has to then include some very specific ways in which it would be acceptable to use it on a plant specific basis.

MR. CARROLL: Agreed. COMMISSIONER ROGERS: Thank you.

CHAIRMAN JACKSON: Thank you again and thank you for your April 23 letter on the PRA related activities. It is of particular interest because it did contain a fair amount of detail and the substance to help focus on some critical questions in terms of what both we and the staff need to think about in this area.

So I just want to encourage you to continue to follow up on the items that we have discussed today and that you have indicated that you would follow up on including the reviews in the digital I&C area as well as addressing Commissioner Rogers' comment a moment ago.

Unless you have any further comments or questions, I again wish you well, Mr. Carroll, and thank you again. If there are no further comments, we are adjourned. 63

[Whereupon, at 11:10 a.m., the meeting was adjourned.]